
    

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

Thursday 24 November 2022 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Griffiths

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of agenda.

Andrea Griffiths

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 10)

The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 
22nd September 2022.  

Andrea Griffiths

4  Annual Safeguarding Report (Pages 11 - 42)

The Committee is asked to receive the report.  

Andy Dempsey

5  Children's Services IT Update (Pages 43 - 46)

The Committee is asked to note the report.

Mandy Quayle

6  CFSC Work Plan (Pages 47 - 50)

The Committee is asked to note the work plan and suggest any items for 
future consideration.  

Andrea Griffiths

Membership – Cllr Linda Cohen, Cllr David Drew, Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-Chair), Cllr Tim Harman, 
Cllr Stephen Hirst, Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, Cllr Dr Andrew Miller 
(Chairman) and Cllr Emma Nelson

Added Members - Charlotte Blanch (Clifton Diocese)

Co-Opted Member - Ambassador for Vulnerable Children and Young People



    

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506 e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.
 

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Griffiths  Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324206/e-mail: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p88 of the 

Constitution).

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Julie.hill2@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on Thursday 22 September 2022 commencing at 10.00 am at the 
Virtual Meeting - Web ex meeting.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Linda Cohen
Cllr Ben Evans (Vice-
Chair)
Cllr Tim Harman
Cllr Stephen Hirst

Cllr Beki Hoyland
Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington
Cllr Dr Andrew Miller (Chairman)
Ambassador for Vulnerable Children & 
Young People

Substitutes: Cllr John Bloxsom and Cllr Susan Williams

Apologies:

Officers in 
attendance: 

Charlotte Blanch, Cllr Dr David Drew and Cllr Emma Nelson

Kirsten Harrison (Director of Education), Ann James (Director of 
Children's Safeguarding), Andy Dempsey (Director of Partnerships 
& Strategy), Phil Haslett (Head of Education Strategy and 
Inclusion), Wendy Williams (Assistant Director for Integrated 
Children and Families Commissioning), Tammy Wheatley (Head of 
Service- Permanency) and Andrea Griffiths (Democratic Services).

34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillor Miller advised the Committee he would withdraw from the meeting for 
agenda item 7 (Fostering Update), as he was a Foster Carer for GCC.  

35. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

That the minutes of Thursday 14th July 2022 were approved as a correct record.  

36. ALTERNATIVE PROVISION - CURRENT POSITION AND DEVELOPMENT 
PLANS LINKED TO THE SEND GREEN PAPER CONTENT & DIRECTION OF 
TRAVEL 

The Head of Education Strategy and Inclusion (HoESI) provided the committee with 
an in-depth presentation on the progress of Alternate Provision (AP) and outlined 
the continued activity to support the improvement across the county. 

The Committee were informed there was a significant increase in demand for AP 
placements and there was a high threshold.  The Committee were advised there 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

was often a misinterpretation of AP, as the aim was to provide support to children 
who were unable to access mainstream education, with a view of returning to 
mainstream education.  

Members noted AP was available in LA maintained commissioned schools in the 
locality, those being Stroud/Cheltenham and Gloucester/Forest.  In addition, there 
was an academy free school which operated near Tewkesbury and provided 
support in the locality and was used for early intervention purposes and was 
commissioned by schools directly.  

It was explained the Gloucestershire Hospital Education Service (GHES) focused 
on mental/physical health issues and supported over a 100 children who were 
unable to access mainstream education.  The demand for this service had been 
increasing and was a high level tier 3 referral, in order to access this type of 
provision.  

The Committee were advised there were a range of community providers that 
offered different services from equine therapy to tailored mentoring.  It was 
explained that not all providers were registered with Ofsted, but there were many 
types of high quality providers that could offer short respite support across the 
county and many schools utilised this provision.  Officers explained that the term 
unregistered providers were on occasion regarded as an area of focus given its 
unregistered nature but there wasn't necessarily an issue with that type of 
provision.

The HoESI advised the Committee that the service was on a development journey 
and there was a definite case for change.  Members were referred to the variation 
in the quality of provision and accepted the thresholds for support was often too 
high and lacked a focus on early intervention.  It was recognised there was now a 
Government focus on the use of AP and the national policy focus moving forward.  

The Committee were advised that a significant amount work had been undertaken 
to address the issues and as a result the quality of LA provision had improved and 
was now rated good in all areas by Ofsted, which was a big step forward in terms of 
quality of provision.  

The Committee were made aware that the service had consolidated LA provision 
into two schools and there was significant investment from the Capital Team and 
Property Services in all the outdoor and indoor learning environments.  In addition, 
a new primary provision had been opened at Rutherford House in Gloucester, that 
provided support for up to 35 children.    

The service now aimed to offer a new early intervention and the pupil funding would 
be used more flexibly to support those who were at risk of exclusion through 
partnership working.  It was explained the service was actively doing more outreach 
work with mainstream placements and the 'space to shine' programme for primary 
aged children had been positively received.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Members were notified there was more work to do but big steps had been made 
and they continued to review assessments in order to understand the child's needs 
in accordance with the education pathway.  There were also therapeutic offers 
available and this was supported by the educational psychologists in the 
appropriate setting.  Members accepted the transitional offer was critical and it 
involved working across both the AP and the mainstream education setting to 
ensure the appropriate systems and processes were in place, with the end goal of 
enabling a child to return to mainstream education.

Members were advised that there was a consultation exercise being undertaken to 
discuss the possibility of bringing the two AP schools into one consolidated school 
that would deliver county wide LA maintained provision.   
The aim was to look at AP across all the sites and budgets as a whole for the 
county, in order to deliver the best service possible to meet the child's needs.  

  
In response to a question, it was acknowledged that AP involved meeting a 
complex range of needs and it wasn't necessarily just children with challenging 
behaviour, high anxiety, etc.  There was a need for high quality provision in 
Gloucester especially for secondary aged pupils and there were only limited 
improvements that could be made to the existing physical sites.  The new model 
would need to reflect the different types of need across the county.

It was noted that a list of compliant unregistered providers was currently being 
maintained but the aim was to have oversight of the unregistered providers in order 
to allow AP to thrive in the county.  It was essential that the service continued to 
grow and adapt to national policy change.  

In response to a question, members were informed there were approximately 100 
children accessing the GHES AP service, 220 children in LA maintained 
commissioned service and 35 were in primary provision, of which 8 of those primary 
children were permanent exclusions.  Officers felt the right support was now in 
place and there were satellite sites based in schools across the county to provide 
support.  The service tried to place children in AP with and an approximate 
travelling time of half an hour  from the home.  Members noted if it was a 
permanent exclusion then transport provision was provided, subject to the two and 
three mile limits as per the home to school transport policy.  

Of those permanently excluded there were a variety of reasons and the early help 
team worked with AP to provide multi agency support including the family support 
worker as education was not always the primary issue and usually a collective 
approach was required.  Members hoped by this early intervention, exclusions 
could be avoided as it was often proved detrimental to the child.  

The Director of Partnership & Strategy explained they were able to track and 
monitor the overlap of school and family support, as the dysfunctional nature at 
home often made the pupil vulnerable and this led to a different dynamic challenge.  

Members welcomed the detailed presentation and recognised the Graduated 
Pathway to support mainstream education, but questioned the complex needs.  

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Officers explained that the complexity of needs had always existed but there had 
been a sharp rise in those accessing specialist provision and AP provided more 
support and pupil funding now gave the school more flexibility.  

During the discussion a member of the committee explained he had experience of 
exclusions panels and had concerns for those children.  He hoped that children 
would gain satisfactory re-entry into mainstream education with this type of support.  
The officer explained the aim was to make sure children don't come out of 
mainstream education and outreach work had an important part to play.  He hoped 
by using the new approach, the impact would be bigger and the turnaround of 
provision would be quicker in order to support those children who were struggling.  

Members questioned the safeguarding and quality issues concerning third sector 
provision. It was explained that DfES and Ofsted had different definitions.  Officers 
explained that a registration process was undertaken prior to being accepted on the 
register and unregistered providers were visited to check they were compliant in 
delivering safeguarding.  Schools were given an overview of provision in the county 
and this allowed them to make an informed decision.  During the discussion 
members raised concerns regarding inspection at the point of registration being 
limited.

The Vice-Chair urged members to visit their local APs, as the quality varied 
significantly across the county.  He recognised there was a high percentage of 
excluded children who would remain in AP and wondered how SEN in the locality 
would engage with AP.  Members requested more information on the various data 
sets and the reasons for those referral.  Officers agreed to provide the data and this 
would be circulated via email after the meeting.  

In response to a question, it was noted that core funding for an excluded pupil 
would be transferred back to the high needs budget.  It was explained that AP head 
teachers were part of the Gloucestershire Association of Head teachers (GASH) 
and they met to discuss the cohort of needs. 

Members were interested to learn about the percentage of those receiving 
specialist support from CAHMS including speech/language and the impact of 
reducing those numbers and delays.  Officers were unable to comment on CAHMS 
waiting list as that was within Health's remit, and ability to influence was limited.  
However, structuring the needs around the child would help with the process.  The 
AP service were having discussions with education, CAHMS and the GHES.

It was explained that AP support was term time only and there was no provision on 
the weekends.  However, support during the school holidays was provided on a 
case-by-case basis and that involved a significant undertaking.    Members 
recognised that many children regressed during school holidays and a joined-up 
approach was required but were mindful of the funding limitations.    

Officers advised that more children from academies were accessing AP, as all 
secondary schools were now academies and the future direction was down to 
school management decisions.  The Director of Education (DoE) advised 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

committee that there had been a significant decline in secondary school exclusions 
and an increase in primary exclusions.  
   

  The graduated pathway was considered of paramount importance for each pupil, as 
every journey was different.  The Chair asked if there was a guidance 
booklet/leaflet available for parents. It was explained there was a lot of information 
available but not a clear guide and the exclusion team advised parents accordingly 
via the Local Offer.  Members felt a clear guide would help parents and requested 
officers to take this point away and feedback at the next meeting.  

37. FAMILY HUBS - WHERE ARE WE IN THE PROCESS 

Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning presented the report in detail.  It was explained that Cabinet 
approval was given in July 2021 to vary the current contracts to extend the end date 
of the targeted services (in the 16 Children Centre's).  This was to allow GCC time 
to reshape and engage with the purpose of considering an offer around developing 
an integrated service to children and families in Gloucestershire.

It was explained that the Family Hub model had emerged nationally as an effective 
integrated model which was being encouraged by various policy initiatives.    This 
had prompted the Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Hub, to explore 
the future of Children and Family Centre’s as part of a potential key ingredient to 
support the creation of Family Hubs, whereby they were reimagined as community 
bases for families with children aged 0-19 and up to the age 25 with SEND. 

In August 2022 there was a further variation to existing contracts with current 
providers for a further 3 months until the 30th June 2023, for the provision of 
targeted family support services within Children and Family Centres in 
Gloucestershire.  The variation would allow further community and voluntary sector 
engagement, to reduce any barriers in creating consortium bids and allow reflection 
upon the implications of the independent review of children’s social care.

Members were advised that there had been a reduction in services nationally and 
this was now a wide scoping offer that meant services needed to be reconfigured.  
A considerable amount of work had been undertaken to look at the buildings and 
capacity issues.  

The Committee welcomed the report and thought the concept of a one stop shop 
for 0-25 year olds and families was an enormous remit, and would require a 
rebranding launch across the County.  The Assistant Director informed committee 
that they were working with corporate colleagues on the rebranding project and 
were part of the South West Family Hub Programme which shared information and 
learning experiences.  

Officer's appreciated member's views and explained there was a three-year 
incremental programme to deliver the whole Gloucestershire offer.   In addition, a 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

work force strategy was being devised to look at training and development across 
the board and there would be no reduction in the workforce.  

The Director of Partnerships & Strategy explained there was a challenge of overlap 
and duplication and the focus was currently on tier 1 & 2, however in the long term 
the focus would be on tiers 1 - 4, in order to deliver a seamless service and would 
seek to build a strong coalition across the partners, this would be encapsulated by a 
matrix of risk management.  Members welcomed the approach of partnership 
working.  

The Director of Children's Safeguarding & Care advised committee that the design 
and implementation was at a critical point in Gloucestershire and it was not an 
option to have children with greater needs being left unattended.  

Members added that children's centres were previously successful before they 
were disintegrated and often what goes around, comes around.  The Committee 
wondered what types of companies did officers expect to tender for the contracts.  
The Assistants Director hoped for a mix of national companies and voluntary 
sectors to apply, as they felt the general interest was high.  Key questions had been 
included in the tendering process and they were hopeful of a mixed response.  

The Committee requested when the Family Hubs were established that a visit be 
arranged to view the centres in operation.  It was agreed this could be arranged in 
2023.  

38. CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT BOARD UPDATE 

The Committee noted the report. 

39. FOSTERING UPDATE 

At this juncture, Cllr Miller withdrew from the meeting and Cllr Evans chaired the 
meeting.    

Ann James, Director of Children's Safeguarding and Care advised the Committee 
that the Authority had a statutory duty to provide a safe fostering service.  

Tammy Wheatley, Head of Service gave a detailed presentation and explained the 
operational environment covered by the report was extremely challenging due to a 
combination of factors, including the profound and enduring impact of Covid on both 
the service and current prospects foster carers and a sustained growth in the 
numbers of children in care in the county.  

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

It was reported overall, the service had responded proactively and effectively to 
those challenges, with a sustained focus on ensuring that foster carers were 
supported and enabled to provide good quality care for children and young people 
in the county.

It was noted the recruitment and retention of Foster Carers had been challenging, 
with a reduction of 19 in the number of available fostering households, from 204 to 
185 by March 2022. It was accepted this was due in part to the impact of Covid on 
prospective and current carers, it also reflected the work undertaken by the service 
to review inactive capacity and ensure that the number of approved households 
accurately reflected available places.

The HoS wished to thank all foster carers for their continued support and for 
providing home education especially during challenging times.    

Members were informed that the proportion of children placed with in-house foster 
carers had been more or less sustained at 69% and the target was 80%, with 20% 
placed with independent foster care agencies.  The key focus of the service was to 
increase the pool of available in-house foster carers going forward. The Committee 
were pleased to note good utilisation of in-house foster care capacity had been 
sustained at 85%, which was in line with target.

The service had also enhanced its utilisation of Liquid Logic in generating its 
performance data to ensure it was robust and accurate, enabling leadership to have 
a comprehensive appreciation and firm grip on key aspects of performance.   

The HoS explained that engagement with foster carers and children had been 
sustained and gradually evolved from on-line to face to face, as the impact and 
restrictions of Covid had been relaxed.

The Committee were advised that the team were actively developing the service for 
the benefit of children and young people, and were dealing with new arrivals of 
unsupported children from Ukraine, etc.  

It was noted the service was making significant improvements, with the continued 
support of the Senior Management Team.      

Members wondered how the Authority could persuade foster carers to move to 
GCC as a foster caring agency.  It was explained there were a high number of 
foster agencies in Gloucestershire and many foster carers weren't aware that GCC 
offered the service, as some people believe the level of funding is higher through an 
agency.  The aim was for GCC to be the foster agency of choice in Gloucestershire.  

Officers were working with the South West region of Local Authorities for fostering 
in an effort to promote the service.  Members appreciated the need to advertise the 
benefits of GCC foster caring, and that competitive funding was available.  The 
Committee were advised it was necessary to outweigh the support offer from 
Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA's) in order to recruit and retain GCC foster 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

carers.  In response to a question, members were informed that in terms of 
fostering regulations, they were the same for LA's & IFA's.  

Members were urged to share and promote GCC Fostering through their social 
media outlets, it was agreed that the appropriate links would be shared and 
circulated to all members in an effort to increase awareness.  

Members agreed to support this approach and felt it was necessary to have an 
integrated advertising campaign, while using social media effectively and all 
members could work together to achieve a common goal and educate more people 
using the various media platforms available.  

It was also suggested that it might be a good opportunity to remind those people 
who used to foster, to consider doing it again given their knowledge and experience 
as it was essential to get the right homes for children. 

The Chair recommended asking staff to share the advert via their own social media, 
given the large number of staff who worked for GCC and its partner agencies, this 
could be a far reaching campaign that would increase awareness significantly and 
presented an exciting opportunity.   

The Committee received the Fostering Service Annual Report 2021/22; and agreed 
to receive periodic updates on progress with Fostering Service improvement as part 
of the regular reporting by the Director of Children’s Safeguarding and Care on 
progress with the Continuous Improvement Plan.

40. PLEASE SEND IN QUESTIONS ON THE FOLLOWING AGENDA ITEMS BY THE 
END OF DAY ON MONDAY 12TH SEPTEMBER 2022 

41. IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

The  Committee noted the report.

42. PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The  Committee noted the report.

43. QUALITY ASSURANCE FRAMEWORK 

The  Committee noted the report.

44. REVENUE MONITORING REPORT 

The  Committee noted the report.

45. WORK PLAN 

At this point, the Cllr Miller joined the meeting.  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The Committee discussed the work plan and suggested the following be included 
for future discussions: 

 Members were frustrated with the various conflicting reports concerning 
IT and requested the update in November include specific and definite 
actions.  

 Members requested the previous and current version of the improvement 
plan be presented to the November meeting, so members could compare 
and seek explanation for any delays.

 The Committee requested an update and review on Trevone House be 
presented to the January meeting.  Members were interested to know the 
status of Trevone House 2, and any future plans.  

  A member briefing session on fostering would be held, a foster carer and 
young ambassadors could be involved in the presentation  to give 
members a deep dive/insight.  

 Members agreed to delegate the work plan in the to the Chair/Vice Chair.   

During the discussion, some members felt some of the reports were lenghty and felt 
that a hyperlink to the full report could be included on the agenda and short 
summary reports would be beneficial.  Members welcomed this approach.  

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.38 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 19 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children 

Partnership                  
Yearly Report 

 

Working Together 2018 places a ‘shared and equal duty’ on 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire 

Constabulary and Gloucestershire County Council for the 

safeguarding of Gloucestershire’s Children. This report sets out 

the activity of the Statutory Partners and wider Partnership of 

agencies during the period. 

2021 - 
2022 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Page | 2 

 

 

 

 

 

Foreword 

This is our third yearly report under Working Together 2018 and is intended to provide an overview of our progress 
over the 12-month period from April 2021 to March 2022. It has been subject to contribution and review by our 
Independent Scrutineer (IS). The Independent Scrutineer’s annual report is attached as appendix one.  This reflects 
the GSCP’s commitment to openness and transparency regards the scrutiny of its arrangements. 

The GSCP has seen a year of inspection with the Peel Inspection of the Constabulary the OFSTED inspection of 
Gloucestershire Children’s Services and the Adoption Southwest inspection. 

In addition, the Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group has been gearing up for the change to the 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care Board and there have been a significant level of national guidance and direction 
through publications influencing the work and direction of the GSCP and Safeguarding Partnerships nationally  

 Allan Wood Review May 2021 

 Multi-agency reform: Key behavioral drivers and barriers December 2021 

 Keeping children safe in education 2021 

 Domestic Abuse Act 2021  

 National Review of Non-Accidental Injury in under 1s 

 The Myth of Invisible Men-Safeguarding children under 1 from non-accidental injury caused by male carers 

 Annual review of LCSPRs and rapid reviews 

 Solihull Joint Area Targeted Inspection  

These national drivers have bought with them clear areas for development for the Partnership whilst offering the 
Partnership an opportunity to benchmark and test areas of effective partnership working and refine some of its 
priorities accordingly. 

The Partnership continued to evolve and refine its serious safeguarding reviews and Child Death Review processes, 
adjusting its approach to Serious Incident Notification decision making to become a GSCP Multi-Agency process, and 
under scrutiny was able to assure itself that threshold decisions were in keeping with the National Panels guidance. 
During this period, the Partnership engaged in two Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews, with one being a joint 
Gloucestershire-Surrey Review.  

GSCP Executives areas for noting this year has been on the following 

 Reviewing the role of the Business Manager as set out in the Alan Wood Review May 2021  

 Multi-Agency Training and Practice Development showing a significant growth to meet the current and future 
demands of the Partnership and its relevant agencies 

 Development of a Multi-Agency SIN Decision Procedure  

 Reviewing the existing Section 175/157 (Education Act) Safeguarding Assurances audit, bringing the audit 
process into the GSCP Business Unit, and aligning it with the Section 11 (Children Act) Safeguarding Assurances 
Audit.  

 Working with the Early Years team in GCC to review and adapt the Early Years Foundation Safeguarding 
Assurances Audit and support in training and practice development.  

 Improving the S11 Audit to include a young person’s panel for the first time and committing to developing the 
voice of the child through this audit.  

Page 12

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/peel-assessments/peel-assessments-2021-22/gloucestershire/
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50180552
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50180552
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50179218
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987928/Wood_Review_of_multi-agency_safeguarding_arrangements_2021.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/multi-agency-reform-key-behavioural-drivers-and-barriers
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1021914/KCSIE_2021_September_guidance.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-act-2021
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017227/National_Review_of_Non-Accidental_Injury_in_under_1s.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017227/National_Review_of_Non-Accidental_Injury_in_under_1s.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1017944/The_myth_of_invisible_men_safeguarding_children_under_1_from_non-accidental_injury_caused_by_male_carers.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/984770/Annual_review_of_LCSPRs_and_rapid_reviews.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-targeted-area-inspection-the-multi-agency-response-to-identification-of-initial-need-and-risk/joint-targeted-area-inspection-of-the-multi-agency-response-to-identification-of-initial-need-and-risk


Page | 3 

 Writing and publishing its strategy on Working Together to Tackle Exploitation  

 Inclusion of the Director for Education, Kirsten Harrison, onto the Executive receiving a mandate from the 
Gloucestershire Education Associations to represent the education sector in Gloucestershire. 

This year saw the Partnership re-tender for the role of the Independent Scrutineer (IS) appointing a new IS Mark Power, 
in April 2022 to build on the work of Kevin Crompton who was the IS for the Partnership through the transition from 
the old LSCB and our inception under WT2018 in April 2019. The GSCP Executive would like to thank Kevin for his 
support, wisdom, and challenge over his tenure.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Marion Andrews Evans  

Chair GSCP Executive 

Executive Nurse Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group 

Craig Holden   

Assistant Chief Constable 

Gloucestershire Constabulary 

Chris Spencer 

Director of Children’s Services 

Gloucestershire County Council 

 

Kirsten Harrison 

Director for Education 

Gloucestershire County Council 

Page 13



Page | 4 

Introduction  
This is the third yearly report of the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children 

Partnership (GSCP) with all activity delivered under the Partnerships Published 

Arrangements  

Gloucestershire is a varied county comprising of both rural and urban areas. 

Gloucestershire has areas of great affluence and great deprivation, with 

pockets of high social and economic need, even within otherwise thriving 

localities. 

Gloucestershire is a two-tier county for local government comprising of a 
county council and six districts with contrasting characteristics in terms of 
affluence, deprivation, and concentration of population, we are a 
geographically large and demographically diverse county with differing needs. 

However, for child safeguarding, having one Constabulary, one accountable 
Local Authority and one Clinical Commissioning Group strengthened the 
Partnerships ability to support and direct effective local arrangements through 
the year.  

 

Impact 

 Improved and strengthened knowledge of the Partnership and the shared duty placed on Partners  

 Data reporting improvement journey established and developing 

 2021 saw a significant piece of work with the six districts and a clear understanding and oversight of their 
safeguarding duties under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 

 Multi Agency SIN Decision Making - ensuring the right incidents are reviewed and in a timely manner enabling the 
learning to be cascaded quickly. 
 

Page 14

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2104605/gscp-executive-published-arrangements-v11-september-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2104605/gscp-executive-published-arrangements-v11-september-2021.pdf


Page | 5 

Activity 

Gloucestershire’s Child Safeguarding Arrangements, put in place to deliver the requirements of Working Together 
2018, comprise of the following elements: 

Set out below is a graphic outlining how the various elements comprising the GSCP work together. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Independent Scrutiny of the arrangements is provided by an experienced and qualified individual, commissioned by, 
but not employed by, the Safeguarding Partners. The Independent Scrutineer has provided an annual statement of 
effectiveness of local arrangements for the period, and this is included in this report (Annex one) 

Below is a brief summary of key activity 

Impact  

 Maintained the agreed funding model for the Partnership reflecting the ‘shared and equal duty’ placed on the 
Statutory Safeguarding Partners.  This has ensured the Partnership has stable and sufficient funding to support 
key statutory and development activity. 

 Section 11 audit process producing its first S11 assurance report to the Executive during 2021 and undertook its 
second audit introducing a youth panel from the Stroud District Youth Council (SDYC) to take part in the S11 Panel 
day and feedback on the process. The feedback from the Panel will influence the 2022 audit and SDYC have been 
invited back to help continue developing a youth voice in the process.  

 The GSCP took over the governance of the existing S175/157 Safeguarding Audit with the view to developing and 
expanding under its independent scrutiny functions. This included the oversight of the Early Years Safeguarding 
Assurance Audit.  

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review Process (LCSPR) 

Child Death/Acute Life-Threatening Event (ALTE) Reviews 

 

Task and Finish Groups  

 Child Outside the Home Strategy Group 

 Children Placed by Other Local Authorities  

Child Death 

Overview Panel 

(CDOP) 

Districts Safeguarding 

Sub-Group 

Child Exploitation & 

Missing Sub-Group 

Quality & Improvement in 

Practice (QiiP) Sub-Group 

Education & Early 

Years Sub-Group 

   SWCPP Policy    

Sub-Group 

Executive 

Management Group 

GSCP Sub-Groups 

Page 15

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11694/gloucestershire-safeguarding-children-partnership-independent-scrutiny-function-april-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11290/gscp-section-11-process-jan-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11288/gscp-section-11-report-2020-final-v2.pdf
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/stroud-district-youth-council-sdyc


Page | 6 

 Undertook two LCSPRs from four Rapid Reviews under the partnerships GSCP’s Safeguarding Practice Review 
Arrangements  

 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Training development in 2020/2021 from face to face to a virtual platform was 
maintained and saw a significant growth in registrations and completions through the period ensuring a continued 
focus in supporting the learning from practice reviews. 

 Maintained oversight of Child Death Review Process ensuring links between serious safeguarding review processes 
and ensuring effective and responsive ALTE review arrangements 

 Maintained scrutiny on the work relating to elected home educated children to ensure their safeguarding needs 
are addressed alongside the quality of their educational offer 

 Undertook a variety of audits to understand areas of good practice and areas for improvement  

 CE&Missing audit 

 Permanent Exclusions within Primary schools 

 Child in Care Audit 

 Accidental injuries in non-mobile babies 

 Education S175/157 safeguarding system 

 C-SPA/MASH subgroup: progressing MASH audit recommendations 

 

 

SDYC Youth Panel November 2021 Section 11 Audit Panel Day  

  

Page 16

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11482/gscp-safeguarding-practice-review-process-april-2021-v11.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11482/gscp-safeguarding-practice-review-process-april-2021-v11.pdf


Page | 7 

Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews and Child Death Reviews 

Rapid Reviews  

During the period April 1st 2021 to March 31st 2022 the Partnership undertook four Rapid Reviews  

1. Non-Accidental Injury (NAI) – Not related to a child death 

2. Over administration of medication – Not related to a child death  

3. Death of a child with additional needs whilst in the care of others – Joint Child Death/Rapid Review  

4. Child death by suicide - Joint Child Death/Rapid Review 

The Partnership submitted one SIN relating to the death of a child during the period which did not meet a safeguarding 
threshold but was significant enough to report.  

Of note, Gloucestershire did not see a rise in NAI for the second year running during the same period with no child 
deaths as a result of NAI compared to one death in the previous year.  

The Partnership undertook a review of all accidental injuries to non-mobile babies late in the period through a Hospitals 
Trust Audit looking to assess threshold application and seeking assurances that the Partnership was identifying possible 
NAI. The audit was able to provide assurances to the Executive that NAI was being identified and reviewed where it was 
present.  

Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews  

Two LCSPR’s were underway during the period with one completed and signed off by the Executive, with one ongoing   

1. Child in care sexually abused by the Carer. The final report is completed but yet to be published due to ongoing 
criminal proceedings. However, this report was shared with the National Child Safeguarding Practice Review 
Panel to assist in a national review.   

2. Child electively home educated took his own life in another county as a result of suspected criminal 
exploitation. This review has been led by an out of county Safeguarding Partnership and is due to be published 
later in 2022.  

Work on addressing the 0120 LCSPR CSE Thematic Review published late in the period prior to this report was 
underway with the Partnership able to report that the actions have been completed, including the production of a 
new strategy to assist the Partners to tackle exploitation in the county. The work for 2022 will be to land the strategy 
and deliver an implementation plan. 

Child Death and Acute Life-Threatening Event (ALTE) Reviews whilst a function of the Child Death Review Partners 
(Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), the joining up of the Partners 
safeguarding functions closely to the Child Death Review functions offers assurances that no child death that may be as 
a result of a serious safeguarding incident would be overlooked.  

All Partners and relevant agencies have shown a significant commitment to ensure safeguarding and child death reviews 
are completed within timescales and that the need to identify the learning is pre-eminent in all thinking. 

Timeliness 

All Rapid Reviews were conducted within the 15 working day timescale. For two they were combined Child Death 
Reviews and Rapid Reviews reducing duplication from the system. This approach will only be undertaken where the 
Partnership feels there is a benefit.  

Page 17

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11286/lcspr0120-gscp-thematic-review-of-child-exploitation-safeguarding-practice-feb-2021.pdf


Page | 8 

Neither LCSPRs met the six-month deadline. One due to cross border complexities and the other due to criminal 
proceedings.  

Themes 

The reviews undertaken have identified some key themes for consideration and learning for the local safeguarding 
system as set out below: 

 Information Sharing 

 Strategy Discussions  

 Risk Management  

 Non-Accidental Injuries to Non Mobile 
Babies 

Impact 
The identified learning is being acted upon and fed back through multi-agency Partnership activity such as:  

 The data over two years would indicate that the multi-agency guidance on responding to non-accidental injuries in 
children coupled with activity in the Health economy is looking like it is helping in reducing child deaths and the 
Partnerships identification of NAI incidents.  More work needed to ensure effective oversight of the ICON project is 
secured under a Public Health or CCG (ICB) remit.  

 Multi-Agency Training courses, eLearning, webinars and notifications through the GSCP Newsletter and Alert system 
with the development of a broader curriculum of blended learning through a new learner management system has 
shown a significant uptake of course registrations and access to the curriculum across the Partnership 

 Cross partnership work on Trauma Informed Practice across agencies is showing an improvement in responding to 
CAMHs referrals and signposting to Early Help services. Waiting lists for CAMHS  remains a concern for the 
partnership   – 0120LCSPR Finding  

 A major review and rewrite of policies and process around our 
Child Outside the Home Strategy was published in the period 
allowing the focus to now shift to implementation and 
changing practice – 0120LCSPR Finding 

 Levels of Intervention and Threshold review by GCC 
Ambassadors under the Language that Cares Strategy was 
completed and republished.  

 South West Child Protection Policy Manual amended and 
updated to reflect national and local drivers. Gloucestershire 
remain the contract lead for the South West Consortium until 
June 2023 having been the lead since 2020.  

 The Partnership is committing to reviewing the approach to 
Strategy Discussions and will begin this work in earnest in the 
period 2022/2023  

 The management of risk and application of thresholds will 
become a Partnership priority for 2022/2023 following 
recommendations from reviews and findings from the OFSED 
and PEEL reports.  

 Non-Accidental Injuries must remain a priority for all 
Safeguarding Partnerships. The recent data shows a decline in 
Gloucestershire, but work must continue to be assured that 
the decline is as a result of activity rather than because of it.  

  

Page 18

https://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/gloucestershire/local_resources.html
https://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/gloucestershire/local_resources.html
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/gscp/
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11286/lcspr0120-gscp-thematic-review-of-child-exploitation-safeguarding-practice-feb-2021.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11286/lcspr0120-gscp-thematic-review-of-child-exploitation-safeguarding-practice-feb-2021.pdf
https://www.proceduresonline.com/swcpp/


Page | 9 

Statutory Functions  

The GSCP is in a position to ratify activity in the following areas: 

Child Death Review Process 

Gloucestershire has a well-established Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) that facilitates comprehensive multi-agency 
reviews of child deaths in order to better understand how and why children die. 

The Gloucestershire Child Death Overview Panel has published its Annual Report for 2021/2022 and the GSCP is assured 
that its duties under Chapter 5 of Working Together 2018 are being fulfilled. 

 Gloucestershire reviewed 6 cases for ALTE during the period for children aged four weeks up to 17 years old. One 
proceeded to an unexpected child death and met the threshold for a Rapid Review. 

 There were a total of 37 child deaths in Gloucestershire between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022. Of those 
deaths there were: 

o 17 Unexpected 
o 7 Expected  
o 13 Neonatal deaths.  

Two reviews were undertaken as Joint Rapid Reviews and Initial Child Death Reviews. Neither proceeded to a more 
detailed Local Child Safeguarding Practice Review. 

People in positions of trust  

GSCP is assured that there are clear policies and processes for dealing with allegations against people who work with 
children. The arrangements make a clear distinction between an allegation, a concern about the quality of care or 
practice or a complaint.  

An allegation may relate to a person who works with children who has:  

 behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may have harmed a child  

 possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child  

 behaved towards a child or children in a way that indicates they may pose a risk of harm to children (WT2018) 

 behaved or may have behaved in a way that indicates they may not be suitable to work with children. 

During the period there were 

900 allegations made against 

professionals in a position of 

trust in Gloucestershire. 433 

(48%) contacts to the LADO 

met an allegations threshold.  

The data is revealing that the 

rate of contact is increasing as 

is the number of contacts that 

meet threshold, but a small 

improvement showing in 

contacts that do not meet 

threshold.  

 

Page 19



Page | 10 

Outcomes for Children in Care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are 848 Children in Care at the end of April 

2022.  Demand remains high and equates to a 

17% rise compared with 2019/20 monthly 

average and 9% compared with 2020/21. 

Page 20



Page | 11 

 

As of March 2022, there were 476 care experienced young people.  The adjacent infographic discusses the key 

performance indicators regarding this group of young people 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 21



Page | 12 

GSCP Audit Activity  

 October 2021 Child in Care Audit: Assurance that Children in Care are identified correctly on health systems 

used in the community and acute trust and in a timely manner.  With the development of a standard of 

operation for the alert system for Children in Care on health IT systems.  The finding concluded there is 

effective timely communication between the local authority and health partners for adding appropriate 

alerts to health systems when children become Children in Care. 

 November 2021 Permanent Exclusions in Primary schools: Following the Annual Report of Her Majesty’s 

Chief Inspector of Education, Children’s Services and Skills 2020/21 the report indicated there was a rise in 

permanently excluded primary aged children that were placed in unregulated and unregistered provisions.  

Gloucestershire Education Team audited this small cohort of children over a three-year period.  The 

Education Team have confirmed no child who has been excluded from primary school has attended an 

unregistered placement. 

 January 2021 CE&Missing Audit: Considered whether there is a relationship between missing children or at 

risk of exploitation and attendances to unscheduled care. There were no clear findings however, it was clear 

young people who go missing or are being exploited are experiencing emotional and wellbeing difficulties.  A 

further audit is planned to understand reasons behind children who attended unscheduled care did not wait 

to see a health professional. 

 February 2022 Accidental injuries in non-mobile babies: Audit of ten accidental injuries to scrutinize serious 

safeguarding thresholds.  This will be an ongoing GSCP Audit process. 

 March 2022 Education Safeguarding S175/157 audit: This is an annual audit but has transitioned to a GSCP 

Executive arrangement aligning with Section 11 audit, enabling the Executive to have oversight of the audit 

findings.  This included conducting focus groups with Early Year practitioners to gain a better understanding 

of safeguarding practices on this frontline. 

 Ongoing: C-SPA/MASH audit: the C-SPA/MASH subgroup is holding Partners to account ensuring the 

recommendations from the MASH audit are progressing. 

Page 22



Page | 13 

Practice Development  

Under ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ the local Safeguarding Partners and their designated relevant 

agencies, must ensure that effective arrangements are in place to safeguard children. As part of these arrangements, 

they need to ensure that staff are suitably knowledgeable and confident to carry out these responsibilities.  

(WT18 Chp 3, pp79) 

The GSCP Training and Practice Development in the yearly report 2020-2021, set out the creation of a training platform 

that could continue to meet the learning needs of its Multi-Agency Partners with a blended learning approach, via a 

new on-line training portal. Despite the challenges of this new approach, we can already see a number of benefits 

during this year, in terms of ease of access and engagement from practitioners and a style of learning that allows 

participants elements of self-teach sessions, pre-reading, on-line ‘live’ courses and webinars, with additional learning 

resources and a greater choice and range of courses.  

Whilst a return to face-to-face training delivery is already underway for some of our courses and partnership activity; 

this blended approach will continue to be an established part of the way the GSCP deliver key safeguarding messages 

across the workforce.   

A new training funding model was developed earlier this year enabling Partners to purchase staff places from the 

curriculum based on their training needs. The private, voluntary, and independent sectors (PVI), have also been keen 

to join as members, generally purchasing small numbers of places for their staff. Schools who buy into the GSCP 

Safeguarding in Education program receive full access to the Multi-Agency Training Curriculum as part of their 

membership offer.  

Multi Agency Training Activity  

Prior to covid-19 in March 2020, the GSCP delivered a range of multi-agency courses to approximately 4,500 staff, as 

face to face events; attendance rates across all courses were consistently high at approximately 85% - 90%. However, 

the e-learning offer was extremely limited, predominantly delivered through national resources.  

The current multi-agency curriculum offers a range of learning opportunities in the form of virtual and face to face 
training modules and bespoke eLearning courses, allowing participants to build a comprehensive portfolio of continual 
professional development. The development of the training offer has seen a significant increase in learner activity: 

2021 / 2022 
We reached 16,000 

active learners 
With 15,023 course 

enrolments 
The average completion rate 

across all courses is 88 % 

 
  

Since 2020 (732 days) participants 
have accumulated more than 25,000 
hours of learning  

Page 23



Page | 14 

Training activity figures - eLearning: 

 

 

 
Training activity figures - Virtual ‘Live’ courses: 

 

 
 

 
 

 
. 

 
 

eLearning  

Organisation Courses Enrolled 

Districts (CBC) 0 

CCG / GP’s 35 

EY - under 5s 2048 

Education / Schools 3619 

GCC (all Services) 742 

GHNHSFT 68 

GHC 127 

Police 24 

Prospects 4 

Vol/Charity sector  245 

Child Protection Inter Agency Virtual Course 

Organisation Individuals Enrolled  

Districts  0 

CCG / GP’s 187 

EY - under 5s 476 

Education / Schools  533 

GCC (all Services) 88 

In GHNHSFT 296 

GHC 487 

Prospects 38 

Vol/Charity sector  47 

Child Neglect Virtual Course 

Organisation Individuals Enrolled  

Districts 0 

CCG / GP’s 0 

EY - under 5s 21 

Education / Schools  19 

GCC (all Services) 23 

GHNHSFT 10 

GHC 92 

Prospects 1 

Vol/Charity sector  1 

In total 6912 eLearning courses were completed  

The eLearning course offer includes our core; 
Safeguarding Children Induction - Generic and 
Education (level1) courses and a further Generic 
(Level 2). 

We increased the range of our themed eLearning 
courses from 15 at the start of the year to 30 by 
the end. 
 
Themes are linked to both local and National 
safeguarding issues and the key priorities of the 
Partnership.  

A total of 2,152 practitioners attended the GSCP 
Virtual Inter-Agency Safeguarding courses. 

Last year’s total of 909 practitioners, reflected the 
restarting of this training from Oct 2020 – March 
2021 with demand being very high in that 6-month 
period  

Demand has continued to be extremely high for 
this year. The ease of accessibility to the training 
system has helped meet this demand without any 
noticeable back log or delays. 

A total of 167 practitioners attended the Child 

Neglect course this year, this represents a significant 

increase from the figure of 56 in the previous year. 

Neglect is a key issue for the GSCP and raising 

awareness of neglect and the tools to help identify 

and assess needs for children is a priority.  

The training is delivered by experience practitioners 

from GCC’s Children’s Services Community Social 

Work team and GHC’s Specialist Health Nursing 

team. This course is highly regarded.  

Page 24



Page | 15 

 
 

 
 

Curriculum Feedback 
 
Feedback from participants about the on-line training portal has been very positive. 

The collaboration with GCC’s - ‘GCC Plus Moodle’, allows us to run virtual classrooms using the ‘Big Blue Button’ (BBB) 
a creative, flexible learning environment. We have found the BBB to a be a stable and highly successful virtual platform 
which is reflected in the 2,420 participants who have attended and completed our classroom sessions, in this period 
alone. 

Feedback 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Practice Learning Events and Resources 

Throughout the year the GSCP has offered a variety of additional practice events and resources linked to current 
safeguarding priorities. 

Webinars: 
 Child Exploitation (Sept and Oct 21): Two practitioner led webinars focusing on CCE, CSE and Missing. This 

correlated with the Police National Campaign on CE. 160 multi-agency professionals attended.  

 Mind Your Language (Nov 21): A session delivered by the National Working Group, on the importance of a 
language that cares, primarily in CSE cases but applicable when working with all children and Young People 
suffering abuse and neglect. 

Child Exploitation – CCE CSE & Missing Virtual Course 

Organisation Individuals Enrolled  

Districts 0 

CCG / GP’s 2 

EY - under 5s 9 

Education / Schools  21 

GCC (all Services) 33 

GHNHSFT 6 

GHC 17 

Police 9 

Prospects 2 

Vol/Charity sector  2 

“I found it very interesting 
and informative and now 
feel better equipped to 
deal with safeguarding 
issues.” 
 
 

 

“This is probably the most 
detailed and useful 
course of this type which I 
have done. My 
knowledge has improved 
as has my confidence to 
deal with any future 
situations”. 
 
 

 
 

“An excellent course covering all the 
things you should know and clearly 
outlining the do's and don'ts. This is far 
better than previous courses I have 
either attended in person or completed 
remotely. Many thanks.” 
 

 

A total of 101 practitioners attended the new Child 
Exploitation - CE, CSE and Missing course. Piloted 
in June with a further 22 practitioners attending 
the pilot. 

This course is enhanced by including in the 
delivery senior practitioners from Police, Youth 
Support Services and GCC Children Services. These 
practitioners contribute to the training delivery 
and discussions, giving detailed insights on local 
practice, intelligence, local service provision and 
screening tools. 

Page 25



Page | 16 

 Understanding Coercive Control and Domestic Abuse (Dec 21): An update session on current practice and 
legislation 

 Domestic Homicide Timeline: (March 22) Following the publication of Gloucestershire’s recent joint Domestic 
Homicide Review and SCR in Jan. 2022, Professor Jane Monckton Smith gave a forensic and comprehensive 
review of the 8 steps to homicide. Further practice development work is planned from early next year 
2022/2023.  

Practice (Coffee Break) Briefings: 

The GSCP produce short coffee break briefings to inform and support practitioners on current practice issues. They 
are quick and easy to read briefings, with links to the wider GSCP policies, procedures, guidance, and 
arrangements. 

 Neglect - Understanding & defining neglect can determine how we respond  CLICK HERE  

 Rapid Reviews – Understanding the process of Rapid Reviews CLICK HERE  

 Allegations Management - A Guide for Employers - CLICK HERE (PDF, 260.3 KB)  

 Allegations Management - A Guide for Education Settings - CLICK HERE (PDF, 262.4 KB)  

GSCP Newsletters and Alerts: 

 Monthly GSCP Newsletter: Disseminates a wide range of information on both local and National theme’s; 
promotes new resources, training courses, webinars, policies and procedural updates or changes, learning 
from Reviews and local and National campaigns. 

 In this period, it reached 6232 practitioners across the county who have signed up to the system. 

Practice Resources: 

 Child Protection Handbook: Updated this year as part of the development cycle  

 Child Neglect Toolkit: Updated as requested by the QiiP and soon to be launched as an electronic e-toolkit 

 Domestic Homicide Timeline Licenses: In late March, 500 eLearning licenses were purchased on behalf of the 
Partnership from the University of Gloucestershire (Prof. Jane M-S). This was part of a planned approach to 
create a network of DA Champions in all agencies to continue the learning in this area of high risk to children 
and adults. 

Quality Assurance of inter-agency and single agency training and practice learning 

The GSCP training curriculum requires on-going quality assurance, monitoring of course topics and measurement of 
impact, much of this is undertaken by the GSCP Business Unit. However, this year a Quality Assurance (QA) training 
reference group was created to support in this work and to meet twice a year. The group first met on 16th December 
2021 and subsequent reports sent to the Quality and Improvement in Practice (QiiP) Subgroup (January /April 2022). 
It is anticipated that this group will provide expertise in practice development across their area of work and across the 
Partnership and report back on progress to the QiiP.   

 

 

Page 26

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12307/neglect-gscp-coffee-break-briefing-april-22.pdf
https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/12306/coffee-break-breifing-rapid-reviews.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2115966/one-minute-guide-for-employers-allegations-management-april-22.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2115967/one-minute-guide-for-education-settings-allegations-management-april-22.pdf


Page | 17 

Safeguarding in Education  

The GSCP recognises that when children are accessing good quality education provision this increases their ability to 
be protected and have access to good quality support to protect them from harm. The table below sets out the picture 
of education settings in Gloucestershire during the period. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucestershire schools have access to Safeguarding Support through the Safeguarding in Education Team as a Traded 
Service, managed by the GSCP Business Unit. During 2021, 87% of Gloucestershire Schools bought into this service. Its 
remit is to support all settings in ensuring they are compliant with Keeping Children Safe in Education legislation.  

In the last year, the Safeguarding in Education Team have delivered 20 Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSL) Support 
Hubs to which all Traded Service settings have been invited as part of their Safeguarding offer. These are short 30-
minute sessions which provide updates from the Safeguarding in Education Team, Early Help Team, Community Social 
Workers, Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning (GHLL), and MASH Researchers.  These sessions were delivered 
at 8.30am and recorded, with the notes and recording being made available the same day on the GSCP website.  These 
sessions have proved to be hugely successful and will continue as a core element of the Traded Service offer.  

Throughout the year training has been offered and delivered both virtually and face to face.  Virtually through the use 
of eLearning and the Business Units virtual platform, from April 2021 to March 2022, single agency child protection 
training was delivered to 97 educational settings. 

During the period a series of webinars were held for Designated Safeguarding Leads (DSL) in education settings 
providing updates on:  

1. Keeping Children Safe in Education (2021) 

2. Criminal Exploitation and Gangs 

3. Section 175/157 Safeguarding Audit for 
Schools 

4. Section 175/157 Safeguarding Audit for 
Early Years 

5. Child Death Process 

6. Operation Encompass 

7. Reducing Parental Conflict   

8. What does a good MARF look like?  

9. Allegations Management 

 

The Safeguarding in Education course for Administrators and School Business Managers, designed to define how their 
roles compliment the Head Teacher and Designated Safeguarding Leads function, was adapted to be run virtually and 
has delivered to an audience of over 40 education colleagues in May 2021, September 2021 and February 2022.   

The Safeguarding in Education Team have set up Single Central Record Training as bespoke 1 hour training sessions 
for Governors, Headteachers and Nurseries, with over 20 sessions being delivered.  In January 2022 the team 
introduced bespoke 90-minute sessions for administrators with over 70 administrators having attended between 

 
Total Number 
of schools by 

type 

Number of LA 
Maintained 

Number of Academies 
(Inc. Free Schools) 

Primary Schools  244 181 63 

Secondary Schools  41 5 36 

Independent Schools  26 N/A N/A 

Special Schools 10 4 6 

Alternative provision 4 3 1 

Total 325 193 106 

 

Gloucestershire also has a wide 
range of further education 
colleges and two universities. 

Page 27



Page | 18 

January and March 2022.  In addition to this work, the team have checked 139 Single Central Records (SCRs) at virtual 
“Drop In” sessions held between April 2021 and March 2022.  (This figure does not include those SCRs checked 
following Ofsted notification received) 

Despite some continued disruption from the pandemic, 48 performances of ‘Chelsea’s Story’ were delivered in 
Gloucestershire schools reaching almost 9,000 pupils. The play was made available to all Year 8 students across all 
Gloucestershire Schools, with suitable support and follow up package in place.  ‘In the Net’ was developed by the team 
behind the hugely successful CSE awareness-raising play ‘Chelsea’s Story’. It is a fantastically fun piece of children’s 
theatre that was created out of a growing need to make young people aware of internet safety and the real-world 
effects of cyber bullying. This was offered to all Primary Schools in Gloucestershire as an audio book in June 2021 due 
to the pandemic, aimed at Year 4 pupils. The ‘In the Net’ audio version was accessed 591 times. The serialised version 
(in 3 parts) 213 times.  So, in total this was accessed 804 times.  This would have been a combination of children 
accessing together in school as part of the curriculum as well as some being at home with parents/carers. 

In October 2021, the annual Section 175/157 (Education Act 2002) Safeguarding Audit was sent out to all educational 
settings including independent schools, academies, maintained, free schools, alternative provisions, childminders and 
nurseries (933 settings in total). 

The Safeguarding in Education Team offer a comprehensive on-site safeguarding audit to assess the effectiveness of 

safeguarding practices and to identify areas for development.  The audit provides essential support, advice and 

guidance, while checking compliance against DfE statutory requirements and the most up-to-date guidance received 

from Ofsted.  Each visit consisted of a half day on site which included discussions with appropriate staff, leaders and 

governors where appropriate. At the end of the visit verbal feedback is provided in relation to key findings, followed 

by a written report detailing key findings including strengths and points for development. Where significant areas for 

development are identified, a re-visit is offered to monitor and evaluate progress made over time.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Impact  

 Designated Safeguarding Leads, Head Teachers and other educational professionals reported improved 
confidence as a result of the support and offer from the Safeguarding in Education Traded Service team, Education 
Department, GHLL and other colleagues.  

 During the period of this report, no schools buying into the GSCP Safeguarding in Education Traded Service have 
graded as inadequate with safeguarding as the identified factor.  

 

Page 28



Page | 19 

Priorities  

During 2021/22, the GSCP acknowledges the need for a 
sustained focus on practice and front-line service delivery, 
addressing the findings and recommendations from Rapid 
Reviews, LCSPR’s and Multi-Agency Audit. 

How well did we do?  

The Partnership committed to the following priorities in their 
business plan for 2021–2022  

001. Expand the safeguarding structure to include a 

MASH Sub-Group to oversee activity through the MASH reporting to the Executive on Exceptions. – Achieved 

The MASH-C-SPA Sub-Group was formed, and it plays a leading role in the Partnerships understanding of activity at 

the front door to both Children’s Social Care and the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub through audit and sampling. Its 

ongoing priority for 2022/23 will be to assess the Partnerships effectiveness against the Joint Area Targeted 

Inspection criteria  

002. Maintain a continued focus on measuring the Partnerships application of thresholds and addressing the 

findings of the Contacts To MASH Audit commenced March 2021 Partially Achieved  

The MASH – C-SPA Sub-Group are working to understand the Partnerships thresholds and to support the Partnership 
in ensuring the quality of contact is at a consistently high level. Some of the activity will require the sub-group to map 
and understand the diversity of the Partnership and will be ongoing into 2023. 

003  Develop further data reporting and analysis process through sub-group Level Scorecards with a focused 
exceptions reporting to the Executive via the Management Group. Achieved 

Sub-group data exceptions reporting has developed significantly through the year offering a platform for it to evolve 
to meet the needs of the sub-group arena and the Partnership as a whole. Sub-groups are better equipped to 
understand the picture of safeguarding in the county more than ever before as a result of increased contributions to 
the budget from the Partners into this area. This activity is ongoing, but the ambition of 2020/2021 is deemed by all 
to have been achieved. 

004. Land the recommendations from the CSE Thematic Review embedding and delivering on implementing the 
‘Working Together to Tackle Exploitation Strategy’. Achieved  

The Partnership published its Working Together to Tackle Exploitation strategy, written in partnership with the 
National Working Group. It was able to move directly to implementation planning that will be a phase of ongoing work 
into 2022/2023. A redesigned point of access into Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services was implemented with 
a specific trauma informed approach as set out by the LCSPR. Working with Early Help providers all contacts to CAMHS 
receive a timely proportionate response and signposting service.  

005. Monitor and measure improved cross agency practitioner access to multi agency training across the Partnership 
and the impact of Multi Agency training on safeguarding outcomes for children - Partially Achieved  

Developments in the approach and delivery of Multi Agency Training saw a significant increase in practitioner 
engagement across the Partnership. There are still areas to develop in terms of engagement, but the information 
contained in this report evidences the impact of the work undertaken during 2021 / 2022. The effective evidenced 
based measurement of impact remains an area that the Partnership needs to understand and be in a position to record.  

 

Page 29



Page | 20 

2022/2023 Priorities  

1. Maintain a continued focus on measuring the Partnerships application of thresholds and addressing issues 

with regards to Contacts to MASH 

2. The key priority for the coming year is to oversee the implementation of the Working Together to Prevent 

Exploitation Strategy, with a task and finish group established to drive forward the changes needed to 

ensure it is embedded across the Partnership 

3. Ensure a smooth transition from the Southwest Child Protection Policy and Procedures Manual to a 

Gloucestershire Procedure Manual in 2023 

4. Following the national recommendations and linked to GSCP Review findings the Partnership needs to 

review its approach to multi agency strategic and tactical safeguarding meetings such as strategy 

discussions, and CP conference 

5. Monitor and measure improved cross agency practitioner access to multi agency training across the 

Partnership and the impact of Multi Agency training on safeguarding outcomes for children 

In addition, the GSCP will be engaging in the following themed activity  

1. Review and understand its information sharing arrangements to better understand any areas for 

improvement needed.  

2. Continue to develop the GSCP Section 11, S175 and Early Years safeguarding self-assessment processes  

3. Continued QA oversight and cascade of learning from LCSPR/Rapid Reviews and monitoring impact and change 

for children and young people  

4. Implementation of a specific induction process for all the Partners safeguarding reps to better understand the 

role of the Partnership and the representatives that have a key role to play 

 

The priorities as set out above have been incorporated into a quick reference GSCP Business Plan for 2022/2023, which 
can be found online here  

Page 30

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/gloucsce/local-resources/#collapse1


Page | 21 

Funding  

“Ensuring that local arrangements are appropriately funded is one of the key tasks of the three Safeguarding Partners. 
Central government should reaffirm advice to statutory partners that funding has to be agreed by them and not be 
left in limbo with their delegates and then commit the funding agreed”. Allan Wood Review May 2021 

The GSCP Executive maintained the previously agreed funding model for 2021. The Local Authority, who have historically 
been the largest contributor, have retained that position but with increased contributions from both the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the Constabulary providing growth in the Partnerships ability to meet its statutory duties. This 
has allowed the GSCP Executive to focus on their statutory duties confident that funding is available and at the 
appropriate level. 

The Partnership through their response to the Allan Wood Review May 2021 have committed to increasing contributions 
to the GSCP Budgets for 2022 onwards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you have any questions about this report, please contact GSCP Safeguarding Support Unit, for more information 
about the GSCCP 

 

Page 31

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987928/Wood_Review_of_multi-agency_safeguarding_arrangements_2021.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/987928/Wood_Review_of_multi-agency_safeguarding_arrangements_2021.pdf
mailto:GSCE@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Page | 22 

Independent Scrutineers Annual Statement of Effectiveness 2021-2022 

The role of independent scrutiny is to provide assurance in judging the effectiveness of multi-agency 
arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of all children in a local area, including arrangements 
to identify and review serious child safeguarding cases. This independent scrutiny will be part of a wider 
system which includes the independent inspectorates’ single assessment of the individual safeguarding 
partners and the Joint Targeted Area Inspections. (WT2018) 

The following is the statement of Effectiveness from Kevin Crompton GSCP IS 2021/2022 

1.0  Introduction. 

1.1 The Independent Scrutineer for Children’s Safeguarding in Gloucestershire is appointed under the 
DfE guidance Working Together (2018). The broad purpose of the role is to provide assurance around 
the efficacy of the safeguarding arrangements put in place by the Safeguarding Partners for the 
County.  Part of the role is to produce an annual report to address the following: 

 Are appropriate and effective systems in place across all partner agencies to fulfil their statutory 
duties and ensure that children are protected, and that appropriate safeguarding strategies are 
developed and embedded?  

  How effective are the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in obtaining a clear line of sight 
on single agency and multi-agency practice?  

  Are the structures for the operation of the Safeguarding Partnership purposeful, efficient and 
effective?  

 Is evidence, performance information and evaluation used to develop an integrated data set that 
supports a unified approach across the complex landscape of safeguarding?  

  Do the arrangements enable space for reflection and learning from practice?  
  Is the Partnership able to evidence that they are having a positive impact on multi-agency 

working and/or front-line practice?  
 What has gone well and what is the evidence to support this?  
 What has potential but it is too early to assess impact?  
 Are there concerns or issues that need addressing  

In writing this report the IS has drawn upon the following evidence: 

 Reports of Regulators, in particular Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue 
Services (HMICFRS) and the Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills 
(Ofsted) and the Care Quality Commission 

 Section 11 review of the partner arrangements 2021/22 

 Reports to the County Council’s Children’s Scrutiny Committee 

 Papers and minutes from the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Executive 

Appendix 1 

Page 32



Page | 23 

 Papers and minutes from the partnership’s subgroups 

 S175 survey of schools safeguarding (2021) 

 Rapid reviews and Local Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (LCSPR) 

 National reviews 

 Pupil Well Being Survey 2020 

1.2 The IS has used a basic RAG rating within the report in which Green indicates no concerns, Amber 
indicates further work required and Red indicates that the Executive should ensure issues are 
addressed. 

1.3 The IS participated in the S11 review, as Chair of the review panel, and attended other meetings 
including the review of progress against the recommendations from RRs and LSCPRs. The IS, as the 
former Chair of the preceding safeguarding body, also assisted in the publication of the Domestic 
Homicide /Serious Case review published in January 22 concerning the deaths of Laura and Ella. 

1.4 Covid 19 continued to impact on the role of the IS during the period of this report, with attendance 
at meetings by remote access across the whole year. Partners also continued to face Covid related 
challenges including workforce fatigue and staff shortages whilst facing an increase in complexity of 
cases and demand for services. 

2.0 The views of the regulators. 

2.1 There are three statutory safeguarding partners – Gloucestershire County Council, (GCC) 
Gloucestershire Constabulary (GC) and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG). GC is 
subject to an annual Police Efficiency Effectiveness and Legitimacy (PEEL) review conducted by 
HMICFRS; GCC Children’s services is subject to inspection by Ofsted through the ILACS framework 
and the GCCG operates within the Safeguarding Children, Young People and Adults at Risk in the NHS: 
Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework (SAAF).  NHS providers are also subject to 
inspection by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). 

2.2 Ofsted (Green ) 

2.2.2 In February 2022 GCC Children’s Services was inspected by Ofsted, the first full Ofsted Inspection 
since the inadequate judgment made in 2017.  The overall grading from that inspection was Requires 
Improvement but the Ofsted report outlines the substantial progress made since 2017. “Children are 
no longer left in situations where they are known to be at immediate risk of significant harm, without 
appropriate action being taken, nor are there any serious or widespread failures in the services 
provided to children.” (Ofsted 22).  Whilst the inspection focusses on the work of GCC in supporting 
children and families there are aspects which are relevant to the work of partners. 

 The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) delivers timely response, and the daily meetings are 
very effective 

 Attendance by partners at child protection meetings is consistent 

 The arrangements for the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) are effective 

 ‘Relationships with key partners have strengthened since the last inspection’ 

 There is effective partnership working in regard to children at risk of exploitation and those who 
go missing. 
 

2.2.3 There are also areas signalled for further improvement: 

 The timeliness and application of consistent thresholds for child protection strategy meetings. 

Page 33



Page | 24 

 The suitability of accommodation for care leavers to meet their needs, including to feel safe. 

 Partners need to talk more when they are worried about children’s safety (referring to social 
workers, police, health workers, and teachers) 
 

2.2.4 Overall, the Ofsted report gives considerable reassurance that children and young people are served 
well by the Partnership compared to 2017 and that Partners recognise there is more to do to become 
‘good’ and /or ‘outstanding’. 

2.3 HMICFRS (Red) 

2.3.1 The 2020/2021 PEEL for Gloucestershire Constabulary was published in October 21. HMICFRS make 
11 judgements. Four areas were judged good, 1 adequate and 6 inadequate.   Of concern to 
partnership working is that the inadequate grades included ‘protecting vulnerable people’, ‘recording 
data about crime’, and ‘supporting victims.  HMIFRCS were particularly concerned about the 
recording of crime: ‘The force is sometimes missing opportunities to safeguard vulnerable people. It 
needs to improve the way it manages initial calls to the force, so all vulnerable people are identified 
when crimes and incidents are reported. The way crime is recorded has improved since our last 
inspection in 2019. But I am concerned that it still is not effective, particularly in cases of domestic 
abuse and anti-social behaviour.’ (PEEL October 21).   

2.3.2     At the heart of this issue is a quite complex set of observations about the way in which GC records 
crime and whether all dimensions of a crime are recorded; for example, are officers visiting incidents 
of violence also recording whether this is in the context of domestic abuse.  ‘In the 87 cases we 
reviewed where there was evidence of vulnerability, this was only considered on 50 occasions.’ (PEEL 
October 21). There are also a number of issues identified with the GC response to domestic violence 
and abuse which is a concern particularly in the light of the Domestic Homicide Review/Serious Case 
Review published by the partnership in January 22  

2.3.3 Nevertheless, the PEEL also records: ‘Its contributions in meetings with other organisations are well 
developed and effective. For example, with the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP), the Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC)’ (PEEL 
October 21) 

2.4 SAAF and CQC (Green) 

2.4.1 CQC has conducted inspections of a number of NHS providers in the county and of note is the 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital, which is rated good, as are a number of GP practices.  Gloucestershire 
Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust was overall rated as good in an inspection carried out in 
December 2021 and published in March 2022. The report says that staff knew how to identify 
children at risk; that there was a shared information system; and that ‘Staff had access to the Child 
Protection - Information Sharing (CP-IS) alert system. The CP-IS shares information for those children 
who were subject to a child protection plan, looked after children and any pregnant woman whose 
unborn child had a pre-birth protection plan’.  Mental Health services for children and young people 
were last inspected in September 2018 and were rated as good with some areas for improvement   
e.g., independent advocacy for children and young people.  

2.4.2 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust was rated overall good in the inspection of February 
2021 published in April 2021. 

2.4.3 GCCG complies with the reporting requirements of the SAAF, within which the GCCG submits reports 
to the regional NHS who, in turn, provide a regional summary to the NHS England Safeguarding 
Steering Group.  The last national report deals with 2020/2021 and was published in January 2022.  

Page 34



Page | 25 

Within that report the section on the Southwest states that priorities for 2021/2022 include 
improving pathways for the most vulnerable including children and young people; reviewing the 
impact of the pandemic on children and young people; support staff training and development in 
safeguarding; and preparing for the implementation of the Domestic Abuse Bill (now the Domestic 
Abuse Act) and Liberty Protection Standards.  GCCG publishes its annual safeguarding report on its 
website and the latest covers 2020/2021.  The report outlines reasonable compliance with 
safeguarding responsibilities and includes good analysis of data concerning the GCCG involvement in 
partnership work such as the MASH; non accidental injuries in children and a commitment to the 
plans to review the Partnership response to child exploitation. 

2.4.4 Gloucestershire Schools are subject to inspection by Ofsted but there are 351 institutions, and it is 
beyond the scope of the IS to consider every report.   Safeguarding reassurance is via a section 175 
annual audit alongside which the Education section of Children’s Services deals with any specific 
safeguarding concerns in schools as does the LADO service. 

2.4.5 Overall, the information from regulators gives reasonable reassurance that Partners are working well 
together, with the exception of the issues raised by HMICFRS.  One difficulty though with regulators 
reports is that they are not undertaken within the same timeframe and many annual reports deal 
with 20/21 and 21/22 reports are published after the completion of this IS annual assurance report. 

3.0 Partners views of themselves (Green) 

3.1 Section 11 review. 

3.1.1 The 2021 S11 review was finalised and agreed by the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children 
Executive in April 2022. (2021 S11 Report)   The results were: 

S11 Standards  1  2  3  4  

Cheltenham Borough Council  G A G G 

Cotswold & Forest of Dean District Councils G G A A 

Stroud District Council G A G G 

Tewkesbury Borough Council G A G G 

Gloucester District Council R G A G 

Gloucestershire Children Social Care & Commissioning G G G G 

Gloucestershire Constabulary G G A G 

Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust G G A G 

Gloucestershire Health & Care G G G G 

Gloucestershire Adult Social Care  G G G G 

Youth Offending Service G G G G 

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group G G G G 

This is a more positive picture than in 2020 and the S11 panel and the report noted a number of 
positive developments within Partner agencies. 

Page 35

https://proceduresonline.com/trixcms1/media/11836/gsce-section-11-procedure-v12-sept-2021.pdf


Page | 26 

3.2 Section 175 survey 

3.2.1 The S175 survey requires schools, as relevant agencies to assess and report on key aspects of 
safeguarding at school level.   The survey was not under the direction of the GSCE until recently and 
the most recent survey is only just closing so any analysis will appear in next year’s IS report.  The IS 
has looked at the results of the last survey which was conducted in 19/20. There was a high rate of 
return of 98% response rate with the majority of respondents identified that they were complying 
with the four requirements of having a designated safeguarding lead (DSL); deputy DSL; lead 
governor for safeguarding and that staff, including school leaders, were trained in safeguarding.  Data 
on the summary sheets also shows that the majority of schools in Gloucestershire were rated good 
or outstanding with a small percentage of primary schools (5%) rated as inadequate. 

3.2.2 The GSCE has revised the S175 approach and is also undertaking an Early Years safeguarding health 
check which will be better aligned to the S11 review.  This is a welcome development demonstrating 
the Partnerships commitment to developing a sound evidence and knowledge base on safeguarding 
in the county in all settings. 

4.0 Are appropriate and effective systems and processes in place in all Partner agencies 
to fulfil their statutory duties and ensure that children are protected and that 
appropriate safeguarding strategies are developed and embedded?  (Amber) 

4.1 Gloucestershire subscribes to the Southwest Child Protection Procedures and has improved the 
online procedures manual through a series of revisions, including the multi-agency Threshold 
document.  The young ambassadors made an excellent contribution to that revision to ensure it uses 
‘language that cares’. 

4.2 The escalation process is now used more constructively in the interests of resolving issues quickly 
and in the interests of the children or young person involved. 

4.3 The S11 review identified that a number of agencies had re-written or re-aligned policies to reflect 
the Partnership’s policy and procedures. 

4.4 The MASH-C-SPA Sub-Group provides good management and overview to the operation of both. 

4.5 The Partnership works to a clear series of procedures set out in clear documents for all levels of 
intervention. 

4.6 Social Care is working toward full embedding of a consistent practice model 

5.0 How effective are the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in getting a clear 
line of sight on single agency and multi-agency practice?  (green) 

5.1 The regular auditing of cases is a key feature of the GCC quality assurance framework and is combined 
with regular performance data and analysis, establishing a very strong single agency approach to 
maintaining line of sight.  Similar reflective practices were identified in all agencies through 
management oversight and supervision in the S11 review.  Single agency line of sight is therefore 
reasonably strong across agencies but is very strong in GCC where the Improvement Board has 
maintained a relentless focus on front line practice. 

5.2 Multi Agency practice is reviewed through the Partnership’s Quality and Improvement in Practice 
Sub-Group, which also oversees training and development.  Current Multi Agency Audit activity is 

Page 36



Page | 27 

progressing.  2021 saw three audits with 2022 focusing on MA Auditing via the MASH C-SPA Sub-
Group. Due to this activity ‘line of sight’ on multi-agency practice is developing well but not yet as 
strong as single agency ‘line of sight’. 

6.0 Are the structures for the operation of the Safeguarding Partnership purposeful, 
efficient and effective? (green) 

6.1 Governance structures are well designed to meet Partner’s responsibilities and ambitions.  At all 
levels meetings are well attended and supported by the Business Unit.  Papers including agendas and 
meetings are of good quality and distributed in a timely fashion.  Meeting minutes suggest that 
interaction in meetings is good, with all Partners making an appropriate contribution.    

6.2 The Partnership has recently reviewed the membership of sub-groups and has identified that there 
could be an imbalance developing regarding the number and seniority of Partners representatives.  
In particular, the report notes that due to a number of staff changes the Partnership will need to 
consider how to maintain a balanced membership at all levels to reflect the ‘shared and equal duty’ 
of the Safeguarding Partners.  The Partnership is considering what action to take in 2022/2023. 

6.3 The representation of Education in the governance of the Partnership has been established during 
the year with the Director for Education securing a mandate from the three Education Associations 
to represent Education Settings on the GSCP Executive.   The establishment of the Education and 
Early Years Sub-Group has also strengthened this aspect of Partnership working. 

7.0 Are evidence, performance information and evaluation used to develop an 
integrated data set that supports a unified approach across the complex landscape 
of safeguarding? (amber) 

7.1 The appointment of a data analyst has improved the range and the quality of the performance 
information available to Partners.  Bespoke scorecards have been developed for each sub-group 
which identifies data relevant to the work of the sub-group from the overall data collected by the 
Partnership.  This system was introduced during the year and whilst an improvement there is less 
current evidence to show how Partners use this data to identify changes that may be needed to 
practice.  In one example a scorecard identified a low level of attendance of GC at Initial Child 
Protection Conferences, but the IS was unable to find evidence in minutes of meetings that the 
matter had been discussed by Partners.  Going forward I would expect the Partnership to undertake 
further work on how they can use this data to impact on the work of Partners and the lived 
experience of children and young people. 

8.0 Do the arrangements enable space for reflection and learning from practice? 
(amber) 

8.1 Whilst there are a number of outstanding recommendations to be actioned the Partnership does use 
the learning from its RRs, LSCPRs and former SCRs to encourage practitioners to reflect on their 
practice in the light of these reviews.  

8.2 The development of an extensive online training offer has increased the number of professionals 
accessing safeguarding training. Whilst GCC attendance is appropriate, attendance of social care staff 
at multi-agency training is low probably due to the demands of the ‘essentials’ training and 
development programme which sits at the heart of the improvement journey for those staff.  The 
Social Work Academy provides social care workers every opportunity for reflection and learning.  The 

Page 37



Page | 28 

S11 review also identified several ways individual agencies were ensuring staff could reflect in 
practice and learn from reviews. 

9.0 Is the Partnership able to evidence that they are having a positive impact on multi-
agency working and/or front-line practice? (Amber) 

9.1 The Ofsted report clearly identifies the work of the MASH as contributing to a better and safer service 
which has been enhanced with the introduction of the C-SPA (Children’s Single Point of Access). 
Similarly, the work of Partners in identifying and supporting children at risk of exploitation and those 
who go missing is commended.  One of the keys to this improvement is the quality of working 
relationships the Partnership has developed.  There was ample evidence within the S11 review that 
Partners were able to identify the contributions of other agencies and it was clear that the 
relationship between GCC and GC has improved on the basis of more regular meetings between 
senior leaders in each agency. 

9.2 By contrast, the Partnership has spent the last few years trying to embed a neglect tool kit into multi-
agency practice with little impact as evidenced by GCC case audits.  These audits show that the toolkit 
is not used by all agencies and there is little evidence of its ‘footprint’ in case work.  Similarly, the 
work on embedding the pre-birth protocol was described in January 22 as ‘ongoing’. 

9.3 Some key recommendations from safeguarding reviews remain to be actioned. Of note is that there 
is still no S136 suite to provide assessment for young people who must either attend the adult suite 
or, the IS understands, the new facility of Trevone House offers a possible alternative.  The IS was 
also made aware that there are issues which have been identified about information sharing when 
children and young people disclose sexual abuse in the context of confidential discussions regarding 
their mental health with the CAMHS service.  This issue, first reported in January 22, remains 
unresolved. 

9.4 Two critical decisions made during the year impacted on Partnership practice. These were to 
establish a Children’s Single Point of Access to sit in front of the MASH process (the C-SPA) and the 
second was a decision to move the majority of strategy discussions to locality areas whereas 
previously a decision to centralise them in the MASH had been agreed. The point I am making is not 
to do with the merits of either practice but in terms of governance, namely that I am unable to find 
evidence that these were multi-agency decisions rather than made by a single agency.  

9.5 Issues also remain in regard to the application of the Police and Criminal Act (PACE) transfer 
requirements for young people to avoid the detention of young people in Police cells.  Though this 
affects small numbers of young people most currently appear to be detained in cells rather than 
secure accommodation arranged by GCCCSC.  The GSCP Executive has agreed that PACE arrangement 
needs to be reviewed in 22/23 through a review of the procedures and Audit activity. 

9.6 The GCSP worked well as a Partnership in leading the response to some difficult safeguarding issues 
with an Academy trust, holding them to account under their published arrangements and agreeing 
and monitoring an Improvement Plan. 

10.0 What has gone well and what is the evidence to support this?  

10.1 The operation of the new governance arrangements has gone well as evidenced by minutes’ agendas 
and papers.  In particular, the evolution of the education and early years group is helping partners to 
have greater line of sight on the early help offer.   The summary document on that early help offer 

Page 38



Page | 29 

illustrates that positive work is being done by Partners to try to support families before they enter 
the statutory intervention pathway. 

10.2 As set out above, regulators have identified the improved and effective partnership working with 
specific mention of the MASH, CE and missing. The PEEL assessment states that GC is working well 
with Partners.  The health partners are also working well in responding to the opportunities to 
develop a single system wide safeguarding team within the proposes Integrated Care System.  This 
demonstrates the efficacy of the NHS Safeguarding Strategic Group. 

11.0 What has potential, but it is too early to assess impact?  

11.1 The improved score cards and performance data available to the partnership should have a greater 
impact on practice going forward. 

11.2 The quality of the Partnerships Rapid Review/LSCPR approach has been acknowledged by the 
National Panel.  This is a strength of this Partnership however the pace at which recommendations 
are implemented is too slow.  Partners are aware of this and in the long-term greater impact should 
be seen. 

11.3 It is too early to judge the impact of the revised Working Together to Tackle Child Exploitation 
Strategy. The strategy however is well thought through, developed in partnership with the National 
Working Group (NWG) and have the support of all Partners. Both should have an impact going 
forward which positively affects the lived experience of children and young people. 

12.0 Are there concerns or issues that need addressing  

12.1 There are some areas that need to be addressed: 

• Key strategic issues not always visible on Executive agenda – e.g., PEEL and GC response plan  
• Pace in implementing recommendations of LSCPRs  
• GCSP demonstrating the ‘shared and equal duty’ in decision making around multi-agency and 

single agency practice. 
• GCSP ensuring all agencies resource sufficient capacity to engage in the Partnership’s activities 

13.0 Outcomes for children and young people (amber) 

13.1 The Partnership continues to evolve ways of working with children and young people. The Young 
Ambassadors are supported in their ‘language that cares’ campaign and were involved in reviewing 
the threshold document.  The Stroud Youth Council were part of the S11 review and made a number 
of recommendations in their own S11 report.  The DS11 review identified some good practice 
impacting on outcomes for children.  The Police allowing a parent to stay with a young person in 
custody was good practice.  Case auditing of children’s files shows that a fair number are rated good. 
Ofsted confirms this but qualifies the position by talking about the need for consistency of practice 
in all cases. Given that an increasing number of young people have been experiencing mental health 
issues, partly as a result of the pandemic, it is good to note that the revised CAMHS pathway improves 
the timeliness and range of support, and that Ofsted refers to the Local Authority supporting young 
people with mental health needs. 

13.2 In addition, Ofsted noted that for care leavers/care experienced ‘the majority of children’s healthcare 
needs are met’ and the majority have good pathway plans in place.  The number of care leavers in 
education training and employment is higher than the national average and most are in suitable 
accommodation. 

Page 39



Page | 30 

13.3 The Partnership has a good grasp of what need to improve for some children and young people as 
evidenced through the Children’s services Improvement and associated QA framework. 

14.0 Conclusions   

14.1 Overall, I can give reasonable assurance that the Partnership is working effectively however there 
are a number of areas for improvement that the Partnership is aware of.  There is however about to 
be a period of change in personnel and structures and these periods often have an impact on 
partnerships. Vigilance is therefore needed, and progress needs to be maintained at pace, with a 
specific focus on what difference this Partnership is making to the lived experience of children, young 
people, families and carers. 

14.2 In order to sustain and continue to improve the Partnership needs to: 

 Maintain partnership involvement at a time of changes in staff and in the case of the NHS the 
transition to an Integrated Care System (ICS) 

 Ensure partnership performance data is used more effectively to inform practice 

 Regulators reports should be discussed formally by the GCSE including any resulting improvement 
plan 

 Ensure recommendations of regulators are acted on at pace. 

 Inject further pace into the implementation of recommendations from safeguarding reviews  

 Continue to develop ‘line of sight’ on multi-agency practice. 
  
Are appropriate and effective systems and processes in place in all 
Partner agencies to fulfil their statutory duties and ensure that 
children are protected and that appropriate safeguarding strategies 
are developed and embedded?  

AMBER 

How effective are the multi-agency safeguarding arrangements in 
getting a clear line of sight on single agency and multi-agency 
practice?  

GREEN 

Are the structures for the operation of the Safeguarding Partnership 
purposeful, efficient and effective?  

GREEN 

Are evidence, performance information and evaluation used to 
develop an integrated data set that supports a unified approach 
across the complex landscape of safeguarding? 

AMBER 

Do the arrangements enable space for reflection and learning from 
practice?  

AMBER 

Is the Partnership able to evidence that they are having a positive 
impact on multi-agency working and/or front-line practice?  

AMBER 

 
Kevin Crompton  
GSCP Independent Scrutineer, June 2022 
  

Page 40



Page | 31 

 

 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee

ICT update – Children’s Services 10 November 2022

1. Introduction

The purpose of this report is to outline the progress made in the delivery of our ICT improvement.  
The previous update provided to the committee outlined some of the significant challenges with the 
council’s ICT infrastructure and service as inherited from a long-term outsourced model.   Whilst the 
inconsistency and age of our infrastructure has meant that the programme has been slower than we 
would have liked, significant progress has been made and this progress has improved the experience 
for our staff.  Nonetheless this does not yet mean that everything is resolved, and we continue to 
give priority to this programme of work.

This update particularly focusses on the issues which impact Children’s social care.

1.1 Communication and staff engagement

Ann James and Mandy Quayle as the responsible senior officers have been meeting with our social 
care teams face to face in recent weeks to provide an opportunity to discuss ICT amongst other 
issues. The feedback so far is that the day-to-day experience is improved and therefore less 
frustrating for our staff, even though there are still some concerns and more to do.  These have been 
largely positive conversations with staff welcoming both action taken and the further changes to 
come in the next few months.  

Proactive ICT communications with staff have increased and there are early signs of positive 
engagement with our staff training programme supporting the new M365 tools.

In addition to the technical work, colleagues will be aware from previous reports that we have 
increased the support available to staff in Children’s social care teams including increasing the size of 
the ICT team on the service desk.  There is a specific ICT team who support teams via floor walking, 
specific phone line and virtual one to one support. We are providing clearer guidance to help users 
maximise the performance of our set up and understand how to get the most stable platform as well 
as working proactively with users in safeguarding to resolve specific issues.

1.2 Availability of management and performance information

Children’s social care managers have access to web based reports of case information to support 
timely oversight of their teams.  The data is designed to load each night into a data warehouse to 
populate the reports.  There was a period over the winter 2021/22 where the loads were taken too 
long to run on a daily basis and were also failing completely from time to time.

Since early June 2022, the loads have been running consistently with only occasional disruption 
associated with upgrades to software.  Given this consistency, it has been possible to reintroduce 
daily loads which enables social care managers to access the data in a timelier manner and is a 
welcome return. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



The previous issues with this reporting did not affect access to the Liquidlogic system. Social workers 
and team managers could continue to view and updates cases direct and see the associated 
deadlines in Liquidlogic.  

In addition, the current reporting system is due to be replaced shortly with Microsoft Power BI.  An 
initial suite of reports has been developed and is ready for deployment.  This is cloud based and will 
reduce the reliance on the existing data warehouse and the nightly loads.  

1.3 Staff connectivity

We have outlined in previous updates the difficulties with our inherited core infrastructure and 
network, which is difficult to support and means that user experience is inconsistent.  Individual 
experience is also impacted by home connections and user capability.  This section outlines the work 
being undertaken to improve this.

The network replacement project has completed nearly all GCC’s approximately 80 sites.  There is 
still some work to complete the remain site and remove the legacy network components still in use; 
this is all planned and expected to complete by mid December 2022.  This new network will provide 
much improved network speeds, more stable networks and more resilient links (every site is now 
connected via two different methods in case one fails).  The next stage for this project is to deploy 
the new connectivity solution for when staff are working outside GCC buildings (known as a VPN).  
This will provide a more seamless connection to GCC ICT resources.

M365 including Teams has now been deployed to everyone and One Drive has also been deployed 
allowing staff easier access to the files they use.  The M365 programme is undertaking a large 
amount of end-user training and these sessions are recorded providing the ability for other staff to 
undertake the training outside of the scheduled times.

Updates to core software including Windows 10 and the M365 suite are now deployed on a routine 
and regular basis which also contributes to user stability as well as improved security.

Most of our software is now accessed on laptops via the ‘purple’ layer which is more stable and up 
to date.  This is currently the case for all Children’s applications.  This does involve changes to ways 
of working by our staff and so links back to engagement and training.  

The number of incidents affecting our core systems (P1) has reduced significantly in recent months 
indicating increased stability.  We have had two incidents in late August impacting the ‘new blue’ 
layer and Liquidlogic, however the development of the ‘purple’ layer reduced the impact of these 
incidents. 

1.4 New starter equipment

There has been concerns regarding the timeliness of delivery of end-user devices and equipment.  
The Digital and ICT service recognised this issue and has worked with our Children’s business support 
team to ensure that we can complete new starter requests within 5 working days where there is a 
known start date.  Feedback from staff teams is that they are seeing this improve and our user 
survey reports that at least 88% of staff rate their experience as good or neutral for the last six 
months.  October figures were 84% good, 10% neutral and 6% poor.

Page 44



1.5 Liquidlogic

Our Children’s Liquidlogic software has recently been upgraded to the latest version (v16).  Work is 
underway with Liquidlogic (the company) to migrate the software from our own on-premise servers 
to a hosted ‘cloud’ solution.  This aims to further ensure improved stability, security and access to 
the most up to date versions.  We had aiming to complete this work by the end of 2022 and 
technically this will be the case.  However, given feedback from other councils regarding 
performance of the hosted systems and concerns about ensuring that interfaces with other systems 
including our data reporting, we have planned a testing period that takes us into early 2023.  This 
also provides the opportunity for well-planned communication and support for staff using the 
hosted system in the first few weeks after it goes live.

In parallel with this activity, we are working with social workers to understand how we can make use 
of Liquidlogic and the wider new ICT toolset to help them work more effectively and to make more 
difference for families and young people. 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2023

Date of meeting Proposed reports Additional Information 

24 November 2022 Annual Safeguarding Report : Annual Update

Children Services IT Update 

Dave Jones (GCC) Dr Marion Evans

Mandy Quayle/Karl Grocock

12 January 2023 School Attendance – issues post pandemic, key changes 
in GCC duty in the white paper

Recruitment and Retention of Children Services Staff 
(Social Workers, etc) 

Academies briefing paper - if figs available  - tbc

Sufficiency Strategy

Trevone House - how's it working in operation/practice 
and plans for future Trevone Houses...

Improvement Board Update 
Improvement Plan 
Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework 
Revenue Monitoring Report

Kirsten Harrison

Chris Spencer/Rob England

Kirsten Harrison

Wendy Williams

Chris Spencer

9 March 2023 Early Intervention and Help

SEND Update – Local Area SEND Inspection preparation

Update on autism pathway

??? WHO??

Kirsten Harrison

CCG Lead on this area – awaiting confirmation of 
contact

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 6



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2023

Bright Spots Survey Results 
18 May 2023 Inclusion Strategy 

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

Kirsten Harrison

13 July 2023 

14 September 2023

Performance Report 
Quality Assurance Framework – 
Revenue Monitoring Report

9 November 2023

Agreed work plan items to date: 


 Peer to peer violence and Gangs – it would be helpful if the Ambassadors could scope out this item indicating expected outcomes.

Other issues to be scheduled
 Child Friendly Gloucestershire 
 Children on the edge of care
 Youth Service Provision 
 Visit Family hubs in 2023

P
age 48



Children and Families Scrutiny Committee
Draft work programme 2023

Development/Briefing Sessions (held virtually and not in public)

 Transition from Children’s to Adult Services – joint with Adult Care Scrutiny. To be scheduled. 
 Academisation  - check with Kirsten
 School Admissions/Transport - check with Kirsten
 Fostering Briefing : arranged for 18/11/22 - Teams (Tammy Wheatley)
 

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Annual Safeguarding Report
	5 Children's Services IT Update
	6 CFSC Work Plan

